
Santa Clara City Council Page 1 
August 12, 2015 

SANTA CLARA CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, AUGUST 12, 2015 

MINUTES 

 

 

THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF SANTA CLARA, WASHINGTON COUNTY, 

UTAH, met for a Regular Meeting on Wednesday, August 12, 2015 at 5:00 p.m. in the City 

Council Chambers of the Town Hall at 2603 Santa Clara Drive, Santa Clara, Utah. 

 

Notice of the time, place and agenda of the meeting was provided to the Spectrum and to each 

member of the governing body by emailing a copy of the Notice and Agenda to the Spectrum 

and also, along with any packet information, to the mayor and each council member, at least two 

days before the meeting. 

 

Present:   Mayor Rick Rosenberg 

Council Members: Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen, Ken Sizemore, David Whitehead 

City Manager:         Edward Dickie 

Deputy Recorder: Lisa Bundy 

 

Others Present: Brock Jacobsen, Finance Director; Jack Taylor, Public Works Director; Corey 

Bundy, Building Official; Brad Hayes, Parks Director; Dan Nelson, Fire Chief; Bob Nicholson, 

City Planner; Matt Ence, City Attorney; Dave Ribacchi; Kent Frei; Michael Benard; Margo 

Benard; Barry Clarkson; Jared Waite; Andrea Johnson; John Grant; Wayne Torok; John Smith; 

Don Graf; Pat Graf; Tyler Gubler; Mary Sevy; Merriley Hafen; JR Hafen; Lisa Peters; Jeffrey L. 

Fisher, Tuacahn; Kevin Smith, Tuacahn; Mark Ence; Marc Reines; Dave Hibachi; Neil 

Schwendiman, Washington County Solid Waste 

 

1. Call to Order: Mayor Rosenberg called the meeting to order at 5:03 p.m. 

 

2. Opening Ceremony: 
 

     -  Pledge of Allegiance:  Herb Basso 

     -  Opening Comments:  Herb Basso 

 

     -   Mary Jo (Tode) Hafen was excused from the meeting. 

 

 3. Communications and Appearances: 

  

  A.  General Citizen Communications: 

   

1.  Wayne Torok, 3687 Sagebrush, Santa Clara, Utah.  Mr. Torok stated that he attended the 

meeting to make a suggestion: that the City post another 30 mph sign halfway down the 

hill underneath the curve sign.  He also suggested additional enforcement there. 

 

 - Mayor Rosenberg asked Jack Taylor, Public Works Director, if additional signage was 

going in as part of the Highway 91 project. 

 - Jack Taylor stated that he felt that there was no reason why the City can’t put an 

additional sign.  He thanked Mr. Torok for bringing it to his attention. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 2 
August 12, 2015 

 

2. BSA Scout Troops, working on the Citizenship in the Community Merit Badge were 

introduced. 

 - Carson McKenna, Troop 1827; Gavin Blake, Troop 1827; Jake Bryner, Troop 1827; 

Garrett Hafen, Troop 420; Dalin Brad, Troop 1827; Indy Redd, Troop 1827; Joshua 

Hillstead, Troop 1827; Heath Apple, Troop 1826; and Derek Morgan, Troop 1827. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg stated that the Scouts do a great job! 

 

4. Working Agenda:  
  

A. Public Hearing(s): None 

 

B. General Business: 

 

1. Action to cancel the August 26th City Council Meeting.  Presented by Chris Shelly, City 

 Recorder.  

 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that it will be cancelled because of the UAMPS Conference. 

 

****Motion to Approve the Action to cancel the August 26th City Council Meeting. 

Motion by Jerry Amundsen, seconded by Herb Basso.  

Voting Aye: David Whitehead, Jerry Amundsen, Ken Sizemore and Herb Basso. 

Voting Nay: None. 

Motion Carried.  
 

2. Hearing to consider formal revocation/denial of application to renew business license of 

Jenkins Oil, Inc.  Presented by Matt Ence, City Attorney. 

 

 - Barry Clarkson, Jenkins Oil Inc., would like to hire an outside engineer to evaluate 

whether there are or aren’t code violations and also to evaluate what is and is not in the 

tanks, what the wiring is or isn’t.  He said it would help them determine about the issue of 

grandfathering.  He felt it would be better to postpone this and have this hearing after an 

expert engineer evaluates the situation and had some specific answers. 

 - Matt Ence stated that he thinks the City would welcome that.  He had no objection to 

taking some additional time. 

 - Barry Clarkson stated that he found out about the City Council Meeting 2 hours ago.  

He felt the Council would rather hear from someone who has expert background in the 

petroleum field. 

 - Matt Ence stated that he thinks that is fine from his standpoint. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg asked if Barry Clarkson was at the meeting at the request of his client 

and the request should be tabled for a later date. 

 - Barry Clarkson said that it should and that there would be better decisions from a 

certified licensed engineer. 

 - Matt Ence asked about the time table. 

 - Barry Clarkson stated that he would like Roy Phelps to address that.  It is someone he 

has worked with.  Roy said 30 days. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg said that the revocation or denial of the business license stays in 

effect. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 3 
August 12, 2015 

 - Barry Clarkson stated that it expired December 2014. 

 - Matt Ence stated that he was fine with that. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg asked Dan Nelson, Fire Chief, if that was okay. 

 - Dan Nelson stated that as long as they are not on loading or offloading fuel it should be 

fine. 

 - Barry Clarkson stated that everything will remain as status quo until they get an 

evaluation as to what needs to be done. 

 - Herb Basso requested that whatever the findings are that the staff gets a chance to 

review it before it comes back to Council.    

 

****Motion to Table Hearing to consider formal revocation/denial of application to renew 

business license of Jenkins Oil, Inc. 

Motion by Jerry Amundsen, seconded by David Whitehead. 

Voting Aye: David Whitehead, Jerry Amundsen, Ken Sizemore and Herb Basso. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

  - Matt Ence stated that he wanted to clarify grandfathering.  He said that as far as the fire  

  code compliance issues, the City’s position is there is no grandfathering as far as   

  compliance with the codes are concerned because those are public safety and public  

  health issues.  The City’s position is that they have the power to require any facility of  

  this type to comply with current fire codes. 

  - Barry Clarkson wondered about that even if fire codes say otherwise. 

  - Matt Ence stated that he believes that in this case some compliance is required. 

  - Barry Clarkson stated that they feel they need an expert and that there was no reason to  

  discuss the issue until they have his recommendations. 

  - Matt Ence stated that he brought this up because of confusion.  He said that zoning issue  

  is not the issue with respect to the business license. 

  - Barry Clarkson stated that he agreed.  He felt they need to address safety issues first. 

 

      3. Discussion and/or Action to Approve Resolution 2015-10R to designate $5,000 annually 

of Rap Tax Revenue (from 20% portion designated to the Arts) for Tuacahn.  Presented 

by Edward Dickie, City Manager. 

 

- Ed Dickie wanted to clarify that the $5,000 is 50% of the 20% portion the City budgeted 

to receive this year.  The figure stays at $5,000 for a period of 20 years paid for by the 

Rap Tax.  He asked the City Council to consider Resolution 2015-10R.  If it is approved 

the City will enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU). 

- David Whitehead asked if the term 20 years or 10 years makes a difference on Tuacahn 

getting their bonding.  He stated that Santa Clara has the Rap Tax for 10 years and 

Tuacahn is asking for a 20 year commitment. 

- Jeff Fisher, Tuacahn, stated that it does because they can get a better rate with the 

bonding agency. 

- Herb Basso stated that he was not comfortable committing tax dollars to 20 years.  He 

stated that the 20 year commitment that Tuacahn has to make for bonding should not 

influence the City’s decision.  He said the Rap Tax can renew and probably will renew. 

- Matt Ence stated that the payment is made as long as the City receives Rap Tax 

revenue.  If the Rap Tax ceases, the City’s obligation to contribute also ceases. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 4 
August 12, 2015 

- Ken Sizemore stated that Ivins City allocated double during that first 10 year term.  He 

said that was a budget issue rather than an MOU issue. 

- Jeff Fisher stated the Rap Tax estimates early on came in at approximately 2.2 million 

for the entire County.  They are going to be closer to 3 million.  Projections are showing 

by the time they end in 10 years they will be closer to 5 million.  He stated that the City’s 

number will stay the same at $5,000.  He said he is interested to see when the local 

interagency agreement comes through about how it would be worded.  He feels like it 

would be in everyone’s best interest to make the commitment for 20 years. 

- Ed Dickie stated that in order for Tuacahn to get a bond, they need to show that there is 

a 20 year commitment or at least a commitment for the Cities portions.  He said that the 

MOU draft was basically the same one that Ivins City did with Tuacahn. 

- Matt Ence suggested striking the phrase “and from other sources” in the agreement. 

- Jeff Fisher stated that they would need the commitment for 20 years for a dollar 

amount.  The first payment would be next spring.  Striking that phrase could create a 

problem.  The MOU would be more like a pledge.  The actual binding document would 

be an interlocal agency agreement.  The MOU and the interlocal agency agreement need 

to be consistent. 

- Ed Dickie asked how the other cities were receiving this. 

- Jeff Fisher stated they were receiving it very well.  They are trying to collectively get 

$450,000 to get the bond that they need.  He stated that they have some private funding 

and some from the State of Utah.  He mentioned that the Rap Tax had passed at 70-80%.  

He also said that 70% of the state of Utah is currently engaged in the Rap Tax. 

- Herb Basso said that he would like to see an agreement for Tuacahn to work with local 

businesses. 

- Jeff Fisher commented that they work with local businesses.  He asked Matt Ence if 

there was some language for that to put in the MOU. 

- Matt Ence stated that any changes made to the MOU are going to be an issue because 

they will be inconsistent with the interlocal agency agreement.  Something may be done 

parallel to the agreement. 

- Kevin Smith, Tuacahn, stated that they never turn down anyone who wants to do a 

package if they are willing to publicly make that package known. 

- Ken Sizemore stated that in the MOU, #3, first line, on the agreement, it says Ivins City 

instead of Santa Clara City.  (See attached.) 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that this funding is going toward capital repair and replacement 

and also the new building expansion.  Tuacahn has a proven track record of being able to 

deliver 75 million every year in economic gain for the County for the residents and for 

the residents of the City in addition to what they do for the Arts in Washington County. 

 

****Motion to Approve Resolution 2015-10R to designate $5,000 annually of Rap Tax Revenue 

(from 20% portion designated to the Arts) for Tuacahn. 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by Ken Sizemore. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen and David Whitehead. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

4. Discussion and/or Action to Approve a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between 

Santa Clara City and Tuacahn.  Presented by Edward Dickie, City Manager. 

 



Santa Clara City Council Page 5 
August 12, 2015 

 - Matt Ence suggested that the City Council should approve the MOU subject to legal 

counsel review. 

 

****Motion to Approve a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between Santa Clara City and 

Tuacahn subject to legal counsel review. 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by Ken Sizemore. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen and David Whitehead. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.  
 

5. Discussion and/or Action to enter into a Recycling Agreement with the Washington 

County Solid Waste District and Approve Resolution 2015-11R.  Presented by Matt 

Ence, City Attorney. 

 

- Matt Ence stated that key decision that still needs to be made by the City Council before 

moving forward is what type of recycling program the City is going to run, a mandatory 

program or an opt-out program.  He said that if the City does go with the mandatory 

option it will be a slightly lower rate. 

- Neil Schwendiman, Solid Waste District Manager, said that he did some rough 

calculations, with three of the cities that have already committed to go mandatory, they 

only need 60% participation of the other cities to have the base rate of $2.94 instead of 

$3.62.   

- Herb asked what the stages were for the opt-out option. 

- Neil Schwendiman said that they created a tool kit to help cities advertise whether they 

want                                                                  mandatory or the opt-out option.  He said 

the opt-out phase will be from September 1 to October 31.  He suggested it should be a 

60 day period.  The next phase would be an education phase to educate the residents.  

The recycling program is called the Blu Can Curbside Recycling program and they have 

a website: blucan.org. 

- Ed Dickie wanted to clarify that some cities can chose opt-in and some opt-out.  It 

doesn’t all have to be one or the other. 

- Neil Schwendiman stated not opt-in but mandatory or opt-out.  He said that the cities 

don’t need to all choose the same option for the program to go. 

- Ed Dickie asked whether the City will still receive revenues from the binnies. 

- Neil Schwendiman stated that the City will still receive revenue.  He said that the 

money they receive from the commodities will go back to the cities.  He said that he can’t 

speculate how much. The most that can ever be paid is $5 per ton. 

- Ed Dickie stated that if the City opts-out they will have both. 

- Neil Schwendiman said that that was correct. 

- Matt Ence asked about glass going in to the blu cans or if it would be separate.  So there 

will always be glass binnies. 

- Neil Schwendiman said that was correct. 

- Ken Sizemore asked about the current customers already recycling.  Does that program 

go away and they go into the new system. 

- Neil Schwendiman said that was correct and the private companies that exist right now 

are not taking any more customers because of this new program coming. 

- Ed Dickie stated that if the City opts-out the staff would be more involved 

administering to those who opt-out. There will probably need to be an administrative 



Santa Clara City Council Page 6 
August 12, 2015 

charge for that. 

- Matt Ence stated that he believes St. George City adopted a 20 cent charge for that on 

top of the rate that was being charged by the district. 

- Neil Schwendiman said that it will cost St. George City residents 18 cents more. 

- Herb Basso stated that he received more input from citizens.  He feels they would like 

to have the decision to opt-out.  He said he encourages the opt-out.  He felt like he would 

like to have the choice.   

- Ken Sizemore stated that he heard the same from citizens.  He suggested that the City 

doesn’t give the citizens the opportunity to opt-out of the City’s electrical or water 

system.  He said it is a vital important public service that’s necessary as a city grows and 

develops.  He said he supports the mandatory program because it extends the life of the 

landfill it will provide more convenience compared to the binnies and for the $4 a month 

to have it collected from his home, it’s much more convenient.  He said it would save his 

family time, fuel and effort to have mandatory curbside recycling. 

- David Whitehead stated that he liked the opt-out option.  He felt like for the cost for 

people to be able to have a choice is pretty important. 

- Jerry Amundsen said that he favored the opt-out option because it gives citizens a 

choice.  He asked that if the City chooses the opt-out and then someone sells their home 

and moves around the corner are they automatically in. 

- Neil Schwendiman said that they would be according to a sample ordinance, the rules of 

the ordinance if they opt-out.  That would be most cost effective way of running an opt-

out for the City.  The ordinance is drafted to be most cost effective, but it can be 

modified. 

- Matt Ence stated that Santa Clara City can prepare their own ordinance if they would 

like to.  He asked who was paying for the administrative fee.  He felt they should have a 

conversation on this opt-out.  Will there be an administration fee across the board 

whether they opt-in or opt-out.  That seems to contradict what has been said about letting 

people have their freedom to opt-out.  

- Herb Basso asked Ed if the administrative fee would be one time only or if it is set up 

would that be constant. 

- Ed Dickie stated that they had no idea.  He said they will have to look at that. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said the Council could set that fee.   

- Matt Ence stated that St. George City set it up so that everyone that pays the recycling 

fee will pay the additional 20 cents. 

- Neil Schwendiman said the cost will be borne by those who are in the program because 

it’s paying for those they have to track who don’t want to be in the program.  

- Brock Jacobsen asked if a new home would be automatically in the program.  He stated 

that if a person moves they are automatically in and therefore it becomes a mandatory 

program so he feels that he City might be better just going all mandatory now. 

- Matt Ence stated that it was designed that way to provide a transition. 

- Herb Basso wondered if the government would eventually start looking at fining people 

who don’t use blu cans as much as they ought to. 

- Neil Schwendiman stated that some cities go to a “pay as you grow” program.  Right 

now you can throw as much as you want.  If someone’s container is contaminated with 

garbage, someone has to sort it out.  He said he doesn’t want to go to a system where they 

have garbage police.  He said they are going to focus on the education portion at get 

people to understand “What blu can and what blu can’t.”   

- Matt Ence said that he wanted to modify what Neil said.  He said what was needed to be 



Santa Clara City Council Page 7 
August 12, 2015 

able to give Neil what he needs to move on is whether the City will be opt-out or 

mandatory.  The other issue as far as how were going to do the opt-out in our own 

community, if we choose that route, whether there is an administrative fee charge has 

nothing to do with the Solid Waste District. 

- Neil Schwendiman stated that it does a little bit because they are pushing for a 

September 1st opt-out period.  Because by October 31 they can calculate the participation 

fee. They are looking to start the program February 1, 2016. 

- Herb Basso asked if they are making a motion for opt-out or mandatory. 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that the City has the September and October billings to inform 

citizens of the program.  

- Matt Ence stated that the resolution they are considering tonight says that the City will 

agree with the District to participate in the recycling services and approves the 

agreement.  The agreement actually says that by the time of execution of the agreement 

the City has to put this in effect by ordinance.  He said they need to bring this back in an 

ordinance form.  He stated that what the Council needs to decide tonight first of all is the 

City going to participate and second is it going to be optional or mandatory. We may 

have to come back before the end of the month for a special meeting to approve an 

ordinance to that effect in order to keep the timetable for the opt-out option.  If the 

Council decides mandatory then it’s not an issue.   

 

****Motion to enter into a Recycling Agreement with opt-out option with the Washington County 

Solid Waste District and Approve Resolution 2015-11R. 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by David Whitehead. 

Voting Aye: Jerry Amundsen, David Whitehead, and Herb Basso. 

Voting nay: Ken Sizemore 

Motion Carried.   
 

  - Matt Ence asked if the Council can look at a special meeting. 

  - Mayor Rosenberg suggested next week or the first week in September. 

  - Matt Ence stated that they need 10 days. 

  - Neil Schwendiman said the he will work with the City and get information to the  

  residents. He said they will move forward with the tool kits. 

  - Matt Ence asked if they can accept requests for the opt-out before September 1st. 

  - Neil Schwendiman stated that there will be options to opt-out such as online, a phone  

  number to call, direct people to a web site. 

  - Mayor Rosenberg said to get literature in the billing before the first of September.  He  

  suggested a work meeting the 1st of September a special meeting to discuss and draft an  

  ordinance. 

 

****Motion to change the Work Meeting on September 2 to a Special Meeting or have two 

meetings. 

Motion by Ken Sizemore, seconded by Herb Basso. 

Voting Aye: Ken Sizemore, Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen and David Whitehead. 

Voting Nay: None 

Motion Carried.  
   

6. Discussion and/or Action to approve Ordinance 2015-11; Amending Title 17, Section 

17.40.055, “General Standards for approval of Conditional Uses”.  Presented by Bob 



Santa Clara City Council Page 8 
August 12, 2015 

Nicholson, City Planner. 

 

 - Bob Nicholson stated that the Council discussed this on June 24. The City planned 

standards on conditional use were noise, dust, odors, aesthetics, safety, traffic, building 

height, hours of operation, utility capacity and public health.  Each of these has criteria 

standards within each of them.  At that meeting it was tabled.  Matt Ence suggested to 

add an additional item to kind of catch all.  He suggested to add item K to the list (other 

potential detrimental impacts).  

 - Matt Ence stated that the new language added addresses the concerns that he had.   He 

stated that none of these changes actually change list of permitted and conditional uses in 

the ordinances. 

  

****Motion to Approve Ordinance 2015-11; Amending Title 17, Section 17.40.055, “General 

Standards for approval of Conditional Uses” with addition of Subsection K.  

Motion by Ken Sizemore, seconded by Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, David Whitehead, Ken Sizemore, and Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

7. Request from Planning Commission to City Council for Approval of the Preliminary Plat 

for Snow Canyon Estates, a 46 lot Subdivision.  Presented by Corey Bundy, Building & 

Zoning Director. 

 

 - Corey Bundy stated that the property contains about 15 acres and is zoned R110 which 

requires a minimum of 10,000 square foot lots. The boundary line adjustment was 

recently approved for this property wherein 60 acres were removed from St. George City 

and place in the Santa Clara City boundaries.  He said that if this subdivision were to go 

forward, because approval is still pending up north a motion would have to include that 

boundary adjustment coming back before that preliminary plat could be approved.  The 

property is currently undeveloped.  It has some sloped areas.  Corey went over the map of 

the property.  (See attached.)  He stated that the property lies with in the Santa Clara 

hillside protection overlay zone and is subject to the hillside ordinance provision 

contained in Section 17.80 of the City Zoning Ordinance.  It is not designated as a 

prominent ridgeline.  He said that Kent Frei has proposed to remove 10 feet of material 

from the top of the mesa.  (See attached review summary.)  Corey stated that each lot will 

be required to have a geotech report prior to obtaining a building permit.  The Hillside 

Review Board voted approval of the project subject to recommendations of the geotech 

report. He said that Todd Olsen of Bowens & Collins commented that they want an 

additional upsizing of the storm drain that crosses from the arboretum other than that he 

recommended approval.  The staff has reviewed this project and found that it meets the 

ordinance requirements.  He stated that it was suggested a one way street or a 3 way stop 

be put on Stephanie Lane. He said that he visited with Jack Taylor, Public Works 

Director about the 80 foot roadway and he said that was more than wide enough and had 

the capacity to perform as it was designed. 

 - Herb Basso asked if there would be a stop sign on Stephanie Lane. 

 - Corey Bundy said that there will be.  He said it was suggested there be a 3 way stop so 

that people travelling down Lava Cove would have to stop.  He stated that the staff really 

doesn’t see that that would be justified because of the traffic coming down Lava Cove. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 9 
August 12, 2015 

 - Mayor asked what the Planning Commission vote was. 

 - Corey Bundy stated that they all voted yes. 

 - Ken Sizemore asked Corey to go over the Hillside Review Committee’s 

recommendations again. 

 - Corey Bundy said that they didn’t have a specific list of recommendations other than 

each lot meets the geotech report.  He stated that they visited with Wayne Rodgers who is 

the Geotech of the project and there are some minor clay issues, but nothing that would 

prevent the roadways, sewer lines and all the public improvements being installed. 

 - Ken Sizemore stated that he is making the assumption that the hillside ordinance allows 

the removal of 10 feet of material from the top of the hillside and would still comply with 

hillside review and ordinance. 

- Corey Bundy said yes it would with this ordinance. 

 - Ken Sizemore stated that there was a finding that it was not prominent and asked who 

made that finding. 

 - Matt Ence stated that the map (see attached) was adopted when the hillside ordinance 

was adopted. 

 - Herb Basso asked about the drainage. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg stated that the drainage study that was done for this subdivision 

addresses the routing of the storm water flows into the wash. 

 - Herb Basso asked if they have looked at primary and secondary and the emergency plan 

if the wash overflows.   

 - Corey Bundy stated they did and it can support it. 

 - Ken Sizemore asked if there had been discussion at Planning Commission about four 

driveways coming out onto Stephanie right at the intersection of Hilltop.   

 - Corey Bundy stated that it didn’t get discussed.  They looked at it but didn’t see any 

concerns. 

 - Ken Sizemore asked Jack if he had looked at it and if there were any concerns. 

 - Jack Taylor stated that it was not as steep as you would think.  He said it was fairly flat. 

 He said he didn’t see any concerns. 

 - Jerry Amundsen wondered if there was any concern that Lots 4, 5, 6 and 7 are all 

accessing Stephanie Lane.   

 - Dave Hibachi, 42 Boulder Circle, stated that he and his neighbors were happy that the 

City has paid attention to their sidewalks.  He thanked the Council Members and the 

Mayor.  He left the last meeting with the developer feeling it was a positive meeting.  

There were things that could be addressed at a later time having to do with the north 

boundary of the subdivision and the northeast portion of the subdivision.  He didn’t think 

anything negative came out of it.  He said that he tries to be solution oriented.  He stated 

that his personal opinion was that the issues that need to be solved can be solved outside 

of a formal session.  Mitigation and extenuation gives the national and local governments 

a lot of room to do things that have to be done.  He stated that the subdivision is 46 lots 

but the eastern spine of the subdivision is a spine that is connected to 56 other lots that 

are probably going to take that downhill slope to get out of their homes and driveways.  

He stated that to him the impact isn’t 46 lots but 46 plus 56 lots.  He stated that he is 

concerned about the impact of traffic. He asked what could be done to mitigate that.  He 

said that their goal, that they have together, is to be good neighbors and pull this together 

and have a good solid development down there. He said what the developer told them all 

sounded pretty good.  He stated that he wanted to talk about surface water management 

too.  He said that you can’t tell where water comes from or where it will go.  He asked 



Santa Clara City Council Page 10 
August 12, 2015 

the City to work with them and Mr. Frei to mitigate that potential damage. He said the 

primary issues are traffic, safety, some aesthetics and all issues that are controllable by 

the City.  He said that they would like to see solutions. 

 

 - Ed Dickie was excused from the rest of the meeting. 

 

 - John R. Smith, 43 Boulder Circle, stated that he thinks the reason the property was not 

designated as a ridgeline was because it was in St. George City at the time and had never 

been reviewed.  He suggested that it may be time to take a look to see if it is ridgeline.  

He said that concerning traffic, he counted 61 homes in St. George that would be utilizing 

this street to access Lava Cove up to the new commercial area where Harmons is being 

built.  He stated that he would like St. George to use their roads not Santa Clara roads.  

He strongly urged the Commission to look at Stephanie Drive as a one way street not 

allowing traffic to come in from the St. George neighborhoods.  He also encouraged the 

Council to look at a 3 way stop coming out of Stephanie Drive on Lava Cove.  He said 

that stop signs slow traffic.  He said the he encourages the City to view the Lava Cove 

neighborhood and Snow Canyon neighborhood.  He stated that they deserve traffic 

control.  He said that he was not opposed to this new development.  He said they would 

like to be treated as a neighborhood. He addressed the continuity of their neighborhood 

and the Snow Canyon neighborhood. He asked the Council to restrict the heights on the 

neighboring lots to 1 story homes so that those homes aren’t looking down on their 

neighbors. He said there needs to be a transition. 

 - Margo Miller, Lava Cove Drive, asked the Council to consider restricting the height of 

the homes.  She said if the City were to allow two story homes it would take away their 

quality of life and the value of their homes.  She stated that she worried about traffic, the 

safety of children walking to school, people walking their dogs. 

 - Matt Ence had two questions.  He asked the staff to clarify as far as the geography of 

this property.  He wondered if the ridgeline is currently in Santa Clara so that it is 

included on the map or not.   

 - Bob Nicholson stated that the west ridgeline has always been in Santa Clara.  The east 

ridgeline is in St. George.  St. George is not designated on the Santa Clara map. It is not 

included on St. George’s hillside overlay map. 

 - Matt Ence asked if the two ridgelines are comparable to each other.   

 - Bob Nicholson stated that the slopes are comparable on both sides. 

 - Marcus Stevens, Engineer, Bush & Kurdick, stated that they looked at the slopes fairly 

extensively and they are both comparable.  He said that in his opinion they are not 

prominent ridgelines. 

 - Matt Ence asked what Lava Cove is currently posted for speed. 

 - Jerry Amundsen stated that it was 25 MPH. 

 - Jack Taylor stated that the road is a lot wider than most residential streets and it’s a lot 

like Canyon view. 

 - Herb Basso stated that lines helped on Country Lane. 

 - Jack Taylor said that the lines would help.  It should cause people to slow down. 

 - Matt Ence said that this sounds a lot like the discussions they had in the past about 

Country Lane.  He said they went back and forth about stop signs on that road.  The City 

went with the striping and it seems to be pretty successful. 

 - Jack Taylor asked Jerry if he had a comment about a 3 way stop there but he didn’t 

think it would warrant it. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 11 
August 12, 2015 

 - Jerry Amundsen said that he considers the 4 way stop on Canyon view.  He said that he 

doubts a traffic warrant study was done to put those there. He thinks it may have been 

required by Planning Commission.  He stated that it all depends on the delay to the cross 

traffic or safety reasons to pedestrians why the City would place stop a sign on a main 

road.  He stated that if it meets the warrants, the City can put a stop sign there. He said 

that in everything he has read that you should not use stop signs as a traffic calming 

device. 

 - Herb Basso asked if the City has authority to dictate the height of homes that might go 

up on those lots.  

 - Corey Bundy stated that R1-10 Zoning Ordinance allows a 10,000 square lot and a 

height restriction of 35 feet. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg mentioned that Lava Cove is also in a R1-10 Zone. 

 - Corey Bundy stated that Lava Cove Subdivision is a PD.  It has CC&R’s. 

 - Ken Sizemore stated that the point is that covenants, ordinances and restrictions are 

private.  They are privately enforced.  The City ordinance allows them to see the CC&R’s 

but not at this stage. 

 - Corey Bundy stated that at final plat the CC&R’s are reviewed by staff and make sure 

they’re legal. 

 - Matt Ence stated that generally speaking, that review is not to review the restrictions or 

content but simply to make sure that it’s legal. 

 - Mayor Rosenberg stated that unless the developer wanted to implement a height 

restriction as part of his project on those lots that are adjacent. 

 - Ken Sizemore asked Corey if the Planning Commission talked about the fact that this 

Hilltop Drive is sitting atop this mesa.  He said the terrain drops dramatically on both 

sides.  He asked if there was any discussion about the home design. 

 - Corey Bundy said they talked about walk out basements. 

 - Marcus Stevens said they were specifically designed to do walk out basements.  He 

stated that this was a very typical design.   

 - Matt Ence stated that as a reminder that any motion to approve the preliminary plat 

needs to contain a condition that’s conditional on the recording of the annexation before 

the final plat can be recorded. 

 

****Motion to Approve Preliminary Plat for Snow Canyon Estates, a 46 lot Subdivision with 

condition that Annexation is recorded prior to the final plat.  

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Jerry Amundsen, and David Whitehead. 

Voting nay: Ken Sizemore 

Motion Carried.   
 

 - Ken Sizemore explained that he is making that vote purely because of the design of the 

flag lots.  

  

 - Bob Nicholson was excused from the remainder of the meeting. 

 

8. Request from Planning Commission to create an Appeals Board and appoint members.  

 Presented by Corey Bundy, Building & Zoning Director. 

 

- Corey Bundy stated it actually wasn’t from the Planning Commission but from staff 



Santa Clara City Council Page 12 
August 12, 2015 

from the Building Department.  He said that the Building Department had an ISO 

insurance rating.  They asked for a building appeals board.  He would like to request five 

members to the Board.  He stated that they don’t need to be residents of the City 

according to the building code. 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that they are not reviewing ordinances, they are reviewing the 

building code.  He suggested putting people on the board that are fairly familiar with the 

building code and construction industry. 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated members are qualified by experience and training to pass on 

matters pertaining to building construction. 

- Dave Whitehead asked if their decision would be final or does the person have a choice 

to go further, sue the City or whatever. 

- Corey Bundy quoted that “the limitations on their authority: an applicant for appeal 

shall be based on a claim that is true intent of the code or the rules legally adopted 

thereunder and have been incorrectly interpreted.  The provisions of this code do not fully 

apply or an equally good or better form of construction is proposed.  The board shall have 

no authority to waive the requirements of the code.  The Appeals Board shall consist of 

members who are qualified with experience and training to pass on matters pertaining to 

building construction and are not employed by the jurisdiction.”    

- Matt Ence stated that it can be assumed that once an administrative appeal is taken with 

the City on this or any other issue that there would be a judicial appeal available. 

- Ken Sizemore had a procedural question about whether the City needs to have this in 

any kind of a specific format.  He wondered if they can just create this appeals board 

without an ordinance or resolution. 

- Matt Ence said that he believes the code that has already been adopted provides for an 

appeals board.  

- Corey Bundy stated that the main reason they are bringing this to Council is so that 

when they get audited again they ask for members of the Appeals Board, they will 

actually have an answer for them.  

 

****Motion to Approve request from Planning Commission to appoint members of the Appeals 

Board as listed in the Staff Report. 

Motion by Ken Sizemore, seconded by David Whitehead. 

Voting Aye: Ken Sizemore, David Whitehead, Herb Basso and Jerry Amundsen. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

9. Discussion and/or Action regarding Utah Division of Water Quality requirements on 

projects to approve the Water Modeling Fee for new development and Approve 

Resolution 2015-12R.  Presented by Jack Taylor, Public Works Director. 

 

- Jack Taylor stated that the State has a law, Utah Water Rights that states that every time 

the City has a new development the City has to send that information to the State and 

have it approved.  The only way to have it approved is to get our system modeled. The 

City has to send the information from the new development to the City’s engineer.  He 

then models it.  Once it is approved then a form needs to be filled out online and sent to 

the State and they approve it or reject it.  It costs money to do it.  The cost would be a 

pass through to the developer.  There is a $1,000 fine to those who don’t abide by this 

rule if an audit is done. 



Santa Clara City Council Page 13 
August 12, 2015 

- Mayor Rosenberg stated that the model is used for is to size the pipe and determine if 

the minimum State requirements: fire flows, minimum pressures during your peak and 

fire demands are being met. That’s what the model does. He said that having the model 

kept current will save the City money when they go to do their capital facilities plan.  

With this requirement the City’s model should be current all the time. 

- Herb Basso asked if the fee was $100 plus $32 a lot for the first line. 

- Jack Taylor said yes it was.  He said that this was a mandate. 

- Mayor Rosenberg said to take the last 2 columns off the chart.  He said to just put the 

fee in. 

- Jack Taylor said the State is looking at giving the cities a waiver. 

- Matt Ence asked Jack to clarify that the developers cost is they’re paying the fee to the 

City and they have to hire a water engineer to model. 

- Jack Taylor stated that no they already have a model. 

- Matt Ence asked if there was a way the City can put some kind of trigger in, some kind 

of an objective criteria.  Something to take away an administrative discussion. 

- Jack Taylor stated that one or two lots may require a fee. 

- Matt Ence stated that it just has to be something that somebody at the City reviews and 

says yea or nay.  He said that if they have to do that it is fine.    

 

****Motion to Approve Water Modeling Fee for new development and Approve Resolution 2015-

12R with changes from Lot numbers 1-9, removing Columns 2 & 3 so it just has a fee allowing 

designated Staff Person to grant a waiver in circumstances of negligible impact.  

Motion by Ken Sizemore, seconded by David Whitehead.  

Voting Aye: Ken Sizemore, David Whitehead, Jerry Amundsen, and Herb Basso. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

  - Matt Ence suggested that in text of the resolution where it says per lot basis, to strike  

  that phrase from the resolution. It also needs to be clarified when the fee is assessed. 

  - Jerry Amundsen stated that it specifies Sunrise Engineering.  He asked if the   

  engineering firm should be named in the resolution in case of a change. 

 

5.  Reports: 

    

A. Mayor / Council Reports 

 

Jerry Amundsen:  

o Last night’s Planning Commission meeting was cancelled due to not having a 

quorum.  It is rescheduled next week.   

o Suggested having engineers create a KMZ file which will insert to Google Earth so 

Council can pull it up on screen and can look at where lots are.                                     

- Mayor Rosenberg asked Matt if the subdivision ordinance would have to be 

changed in order to do that.                                                                                                           

- Matt Ence stated that there was no need to change.  He said to just add it to the 

check list.                                                                                                                              

- Mayor Rosenberg asked how they were doing on the new projection.      

- Brock Jacobsen stated that the bid was awarded today to Vision Electronics and they 

will start September 10.  They are going to replace the projector with two 50 to 60 



Santa Clara City Council Page 14 
August 12, 2015 

inch TV’s on each side.  

 

 David Whitehead: 

o Mosquito Abatement is meeting tomorrow. There is no West Nile Virus down here 

yet. 

 

Herb Basso: 

o The EDC is taking the summer off. 

 

Ken Sizemore: 

o Air Quality and DTAC meet next week 

o Arts to Zion to set up tours. They are probably coming to Council to ask for their 

support.  He told her that the City has already budgeted for this year. 

- Jack Taylor moved a crosswalk. 

 

- John Grant, 2430 Vineyard, stated that the float is ready and will be taken to the 

parade on Saturday. 

 

6. Executive Session: None.  

 

7. Approval of Claims and Minutes:   

 

- July 22, 2015 City Council Meeting Minutes 

- July 22, 2015 Executive Session Minutes 

- August 5, 2015 Work Meeting Minutes 

- Claims through August 12, 2015                                                         

 

****Motion to Approve Work Meeting Minutes from August 5, 2015, the Regular City Council 

Meeting Minutes from  July 22, 2015, Executive Session Minutes from July 22, 2015, and claims 

through August 12, 2015 excluding the check for Harmons because an amount had been agreed 

upon. 

 

  - Ken Sizemore had a question on claims concerning building fee refunds. 

  - Corey Bundy stated that they are maintenance deposits they get back. 

  - Brock Jacobsen was doing the impact fee report to the State.  Difference of refunded  

  money. Harmons fee was based off old fee. They gave the numbers to Ed. 

  - Mayor Rosenberg stated that they said they were willing to pay the fee.  Mayor   

  Rosenberg said he struggled signing that check. 

  - Matt Ence stated that it was approved as a dollar amount. 

  - Mayor Rosenberg said they will pull Harmons check out. 

  - Brock Jacobsen said they will void it and wait until Council decides what to do. 

  - Matt Ence stated that the City Council has already acted and approved the impact fee  

  amount.  He said the only reason it would need to be a new item for approval is if the  

  Council plans to change that.     

  - Mayor Rosenberg stated they are going to pull the Harmons check. 

  - Ken Sizemore asked about stipends for the fire staff and what they were for. 

  - Dan Nelson said it was for emergency responses and additional trainings.  

 



Santa Clara City Council Page 15 
August 12, 2015 

 

 

Motion by Herb Basso, seconded by David Whitehead. 

Voting Aye: Herb Basso, Ken Sizemore, Jerry Amundsen, and David Whitehead. 

Voting nay: None 

Motion Carried.   
 

8. Calendar of Events 
 

- September 2, 2015 City Council Work Meeting now a Special Meeting 

- September 9, 2015 City Council Meeting 

- September 23, 2015 City Council Meeting 

 

9. Adjournment: 

 

Motion to adjourn by Herb Basso. 

Seconded by David Whitehead, with all members present voting aye. 

Meeting Adjourned at 8:29 p.m. 

 

 

 

    __________________________    Date Approved: ________________ 

Chris Shelley – City Recorder 

 


